2009

Western Surety Company v. Idaho Auto Auction : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j), as this matter has been transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue on this appeal is whether the Trial Court erred in failing to set aside a default judgment that was deficient in several respects. One set of defects relates to the failure of the appellee, Nathan Coulter, (“Coulter”) and the Trial Court to follow Utah R. Civ. P. 5 and 55 in seeking and entering the default. Specifically, Coulter did not properly serve the request for default and related papers (the “default papers”) on the appellants Michael and Telisa Toscano (“the “Toscanos”) and the Trial Court did not hold a hearing to determine damages prior to entering the default judgment. Both of these flaws deprived the Toscanos of notice that default was being sought. The second set of flaws relate to the fact that the default is based upon a cross claim (the “Cross-Claim”) that does not state a claim against the Toscanos. Each of the deficiencies provides an independent reason to set aside the judgment.

Although this case involves a motion to set aside a default, it turns largely on issues that are not within the Trial Court’s discretion. The Trial Court does not have discretion to deviate from the Rules of Civil Procedure, even when addressing a party in default. *Russell v. Martell*, 681 P.2d 1193, 1195 (Utah 1984). Therefore, the Trial Court’s application of and adherence to the Rules of Civil Procedure should be reviewed for correctness. *Fibro Trust, Inc. v. Brahman Fin., Inc.*, 974 P.2d 288, 295 (Utah 1999) (proper application of law reviewed for correctness). Moreover, a default judgment

based on a cross claim that fails to state a claim is invalid. *Skanchy v. Calcados Ortope SA*, 952 P.2d 1071, 1076 (Utah 1998). The Trial Court has no discretion in determining whether to set aside an invalid judgment.

If this Court rules that the default judgment is void but the default certificate is not¹, then the Trial Court erred by not considering whether to set aside the default certificate under the “good cause” standard of Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c). However, because this case is clear cut, it would be an abuse of discretion to not set aside the default certificate for good cause.

The decision of whether to set aside a default is largely within the discretion of the Trial Court. *Pitts v. Pine Meadow Ranch*, 589 P.2d 767, 769 (Utah 1978). This discretion should be exercised liberally in favor of the defaulting party in order to provide him his day in court.² *Id.* “It is an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification for the defendants' failure to . . . answer.” *Board of Educ. v. Cox*, 384 P.2d 806, 807 (Utah 1963). In addition, because

¹ This potential result can be reached only in limited circumstances. Specifically, if the Court finds that there was no error in Coulter’s failure to serve the default papers on the Toscanos’ counsel, and that the Cross-Claim does state a claim, but that the Trial Court did err in entering a default judgment prior to holding a hearing to determine damages and giving the Toscanos notice of that hearing, the proper result may be to set aside the judgment and not the certificate. Under this outcome, fairness would require that the Toscanos be given opportunity to set aside the default certificate under the “good cause” standard of Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c).

² The interests of the plaintiffs should also be taken into consideration, and the court should take care not to work an injustice or inequity to them. *Pitts*, 589 P.2d at 769. *Pitts* involved a case in which the plaintiff had relocated to England and would have been severely inconvenienced by being required to come to the United States to litigate the matter. *Id.* at 768. The record in this case states no reason why it would be unjust to require Coulter to prove his claims.

this case involves a failure to follow the procedures for notice when seeking a default, the Trial Court's discretion should be limited. *See Deutz-Allis Credit Corp. v. Smith*, 785 P.2d 682, 684 (Idaho Ct. App. 1990)(“a court's usual discretionary authority to grant or deny [a motion to set aside a default] may be greatly narrowed where certain procedural safeguards were not strictly complied with in obtaining the judgment”). Therefore, even if this Court were to conclude that the only reversible error was the Trial Court's failure to consider the good cause standard, this Court should simply remand with directions to set aside both the default judgment and certificate.

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

This case turns on application of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 5, 55 and 60. The relevant subsections of those rules are stated below.

1. **Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 5(a) and (b)** provide, in relevant part as follows:

(a) Service: When required.

(1) Except as otherwise provided in these rules or as otherwise directed by the court, every judgment, every order required by its terms to be served, every pleading subsequent to the original complaint, every paper relating to discovery, every written motion other than one heard ex parte, and every written notice, appearance, demand, offer of judgment, and similar paper shall be served upon each of the parties.

(2) No service need be made on parties in default except that: . . . (B) a party in default for any reason other than for failure to appear shall be served with all pleadings and papers; (C) a party in default for any reason shall be served with notice of any

hearing necessary to determine the amount of damages to be entered against the defaulting party;

...

(b) Service: How made.

(1) If a party is represented by an attorney service shall be made upon the attorney unless service upon the party is ordered by the court. If an attorney has filed a Notice of Limited Appearance under Rule 75 and the papers being served relate to a matter within the scope of the Notice, service shall be made upon the attorney and the party.

2. **Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 55 (a) through (e)** provide, in relevant part, as follows:

(a) Entry. When a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to plead or otherwise defend as provided by these rules and that fact is made to appear the clerk shall enter the default of that party.

(b) Judgment. Judgment by default may be entered as follows:

(1) By the clerk. Upon request of the plaintiff the clerk shall enter judgment for the amount claimed and costs against the defendant if: (A) the default of the defendant is for failure to appear; (B) the defendant is not an infant or incompetent person; (C) the defendant has been personally served pursuant to Rule 4(d)(1); and (D) the claim against the defendant is for a sum certain or for a sum that can be made certain by computation.

(2) By the court. In all other cases the party entitled to a judgment by default shall apply to the court therefor. If, in order to enable the court to enter judgment or to carry it into effect, it is necessary to take an account or to determine the amount of damages or to establish the truth of any averment by evidence or to make an investigation of any other matter, the court may conduct such hearings or order such references as it deems necessary and proper.

(c) Setting aside default. For good cause shown the court may set aside an entry of default and, if a judgment by default has been entered, may likewise set it aside in accordance with Rule 60(b).

(d) Plaintiffs, counterclaimants, cross-claimants. The provisions of this rule apply whether the party entitled to the judgment by default is a plaintiff, a third-party plaintiff, or a party who has pleaded a cross-claim or counterclaim. In all cases a judgment by default is subject to the limitations of Rule 54(c).

3. **Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)**, provides, in part, for relief from default judgments as follows:

(b) Mistakes; inadvertence; excusable neglect; newly discovered evidence; fraud, etc. On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation or other misconduct of

an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this Subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order or proceeding or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court. The procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or by an independent action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background Of Claims That Gave Rise To The Lawsuit.

Pedro Boix was the owner of an automobile dealership known as Auto One. From early 2003 to February, 2004, Michael Toscano was a co-owner of Auto One along with Mr. Boix.³ In or about February, 2004, Mr. Toscano resigned his position with Auto One. Around the time of Mr. Toscano's resignation, Mr. Boix asked Sandra Coulter,

³ Telisa Toscano has never been an owner or employee of Auto One. She was a signer on the Auto Owners bond at issue before the Trial Court. Similarly, though it does not appear Nathan Coulter was ever an owner of Auto One, he was also a signer on the bond.

who was married to Nathan Coulter, to be his co-owner in Auto One.⁴ Nathan Coulter gave or loaned substantial sums of money to Pedro Boix in conjunction with his wife's involvement in Auto One.

As owner of Auto One, Pedro Boix defrauded a number of people and then fled the United States on or about September of 2004.⁵ Western Surety, which had issued a payment bond on behalf of Auto One, filed a lawsuit interpleading bond funds and asserting claims for indemnification against Pedro Boix, Sylvia Boix, the Toscanos, Nathan Coulter and Sandra Coulter. The Toscanos appeared through counsel, D. Bruce Oliver, and answered the complaint. Coulter subsequently answered and asserted a cross claim against the Toscanos and Pedro and Sylvia Boix. The Toscanos and their counsel overlooked the Cross-Claim and did not answer it.

The Cross-Claim contained eleven numbered paragraphs. It mentioned various causes of action, though it did not set forth the elements of any cause of action in any coherent or organized fashion, if it states them at all. Though it mentioned fraud, unjust enrichment and conversion, it clearly did not state the elements of these causes of action. The only cause of action for which the elements are even arguably stated is breach of contract. However, this cause of action only alleges that money was loaned to Auto One.

⁴ Coulter may dispute whether his wife actually became a partner with Boix. However, his testimony on the record indicates that he and his wife had understood she would become Mr. Boix's partner in the future.

⁵ The Toscanos were not involved in Mr. Boix's fraud. The Toscanos do not know whether Sandra Coulter was involved in Pedro Boix's frauds. Mr. Boix's activities are mostly immaterial to this appeal.

It does not allege that money was loaned to the Toscanos. Therefore, it does not state a claim against the Toscanos.

The Toscanos and Coulter unsuccessfully defended themselves against Western Surety's claim. Summary judgment was entered in favor of Western Surety on the indemnification claim. The Toscanos retained the law firm of VanCott, Bagley, Cornwall and McCarthy to represent them on the appeal of the judgment in favor of Western Surety. Though a notice of appeal was filed, the Toscanos ultimately settled with Western Surety and a satisfaction of judgment was entered with respect to those claims.

B. History Of The Default.

The default involves a long and somewhat complicated procedural history. Nonetheless, because that history is important to understanding the matters on appeal, it will be repeated here.

Approximately two and one-half years after filing the cross claim and several months after the Toscanos and Coulter satisfied the judgments against them, Coulter sought a default against the Toscanos on the Cross-Claim. Though he had been in contact with the Toscanos shortly before seeking the default, he did not inquire regarding their failure to answer. Similarly, though the Toscanos had appeared through counsel, Coulter's counsel did not attempt to contact the Toscanos' counsel. For unknown reasons, Coulter's counsel chose to mail the default papers only to a residential address for the Toscanos. This address was incorrect. Though a default judgment was entered on

February 6, 2008, the Toscanos did not receive the default papers for approximately four to eight weeks after this date.

Upon receiving these papers, the Toscanos contacted their attorneys at the VanCott firm. Due to several miscommunications and uncertainty regarding the nature of Coulter's claims upon which the default was based, the Toscanos did not file a motion to set aside the default judgment until May 12, 2008. That motion was based upon Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(6). However, the Trial Court ruled that that motion should have been filed under Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1), and that it was therefore time barred because it was filed six days after the expiration of the three month time limit for setting aside judgments under that provision.

Before an order was entered on the motion to set aside, the Toscanos' counsel filed a renewed motion to set aside the default judgment. This motion was based upon the claims presented on this appeal, namely that the Cross-Claim failed to state a claim, Coulter had failed to properly serve the papers, and Coulter and the Trial Court had failed to follow the two-step procedure required when a party seeks a default judgment for other than a sum certain.

The Trial Court did not hold a hearing on this motion and instead issued a minute entry stating that, because the Cross-Claim did not seek a sum certain, a hearing should have been held to determine the amount of damages. The Toscanos, correctly reasoning from established precedent that the Trial Court's ruling implied that there was no valid judgment in place, filed a motion to set aside the default certificate under the good cause standard of Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c). The Trial Court declined to consider whether to set

aside the default certificate under Rule 55(c), ruling that, by its minute entry, it had not implied that there was no valid judgment in place.

The Trial Court subsequently held a hearing to determine the amount of damages.⁶ At that hearing the Trial Court struggled to find a cause of action in the Cross-Claim. It also was presented with copious evidence demonstrating that Michael Toscano was not an owner or principal of Auto One at the time Coulter made the loans in question and that Telisa Toscano had never been an owner, principal, or employee of Auto One. Nonetheless, the Trial Court entered judgment against the Toscanos in the amount of \$188,598.62.

C. Significance Of The Errors Made By Coulter And The Trial Court.

The Toscanos demonstrated their interest in defending themselves in this case. They answered the complaint and opposed summary judgment. They maintained contact with their co-defendant, Coulter. Nonetheless, when Coulter made his belated decision to seek a default against the Toscanos, he did not make significant efforts to insure that the Toscanos were aware he was seeking a default. Rules 5 and 55 require that default papers be served on counsel when a party has appeared in the action through counsel.⁷

⁶ A motion to reconsider was filed and heard prior to the hearing on damages. In addressing the motion to reconsider, the Trial Court added more detail to its ruling. Specifically, in relation to the claim that Coulter had failed to serve the Toscanos, the Trial Court stated that the Toscanos were not entitled to service because, though they had appeared through counsel by answering the complaint, they had not appeared for purposes of the cross claim.

⁷ Counsel would have been more likely than the Toscanos to understand the significance of a default being sought against his clients.

The procedure chosen by Coulter not only failed to comport with the Rules, it also failed to provide timely notice to the Toscanos.

Coulter and the Trial Court compounded this problem by failing to hold a hearing prior to entry of a default judgment. Had they followed this process, the Toscanos would have been entitled to notice of hearing on the default judgment under Utah R. Civ. P. 5(a)(2)(C). This notice would have allowed them to seek to have the default certificate set aside under Rule 55(c) before a judgment was entered.

When the Trial Court was informed of its error in failing to hold a hearing, it attempted to correct the matter by holding a hearing. However, it treated the judgment as if it were still valid and immune from challenge under Rules 55(c) and 60(b)(1). In effect, the Trial Court entered a judgment before holding a hearing. This approach violates Rule 55.

This procedure was also unfair. Coulter's improper service had already deprived the Toscanos of notice he was seeking a default before it was entered. By entering a judgment before holding a hearing, the Court deprived them of another opportunity (to which they were entitled by the Rules) to contest the default judgment before it was entered.

The Toscanos had originally missed, by only six days, the three-month deadline for seeking to have the default judgment set aside under the excusable neglect standard of Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1). Had Coulter properly served the default papers, or had the Court held a hearing before entering a default judgment, the Toscanos would have known of the default before it was entered and could have challenged it under the "good cause"

standard of Rule 55(c). At a bare minimum, they would have been entitled to have their motion to set aside addressed under the “mistake or excusable neglect” standard of Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1).

D. The Judgment Is Void Because the Cross Claim Fails To State A Claim.

Lastly, procedural issues aside, the inadequacy of the Cross-Claim cannot be overlooked. It simply does not state a claim against the Toscanos. If the Trial Court was inclined to liberally construe the Cross-Claim, it should have, at the very least, considered the evidence to determine whether a default judgment was proper based upon the Cross-Claim. A promissory note presented by Coulter to the Trial Court before he sought the default demonstrated that his loan had been to Pedro Boix, not the Toscanos. Evidence presented at the default judgment hearing demonstrated that Michael Toscano was not involved with Auto One at the relevant times and that Coulter’s wife was involved with the company at that time. Perhaps most tellingly, the evidence showed that Telisa Toscano had never been involved with Auto One and that Coulter knew she was not so involved. Nonetheless, the Trial Court chose to disregard this evidence and entered a default judgment against both Michael and Telisa Toscano. In doing so, the Trial Court deliberately ignored the power granted to it by Utah R. Civ. P. 55 to “to establish the truth of any averment by evidence or to make an investigation of any other matter,” prior to entering a default judgment. This failure to consider the pleadings and the facts to insure that its ruling achieved substantial justice was a final instance of clear error by the Trial Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Western Surety Company initiated this lawsuit by filing a complaint against Nathan Coulter, Sandra Coulter, Michael Toscano, Telisa Toscano and others on April 12, 2005. Trial Court Record ("Rec.") 1-9. The complaint asserted claims interpleading amounts Western Surety owed under a bond and seeking indemnification of those amounts from Nathan Coulter, Sandra Coulter and the Toscanos. However, the substance of those claims is not relevant to this appeal.

2. An amended complaint was filed on May 9, 2005. Rec. 40-48.

3. The Toscanos answered the amended complaint filed against them in this matter on June 10, 2005. Rec. 104-109.

4. D. Bruce Oliver appeared as attorney of record for the Toscanos when he answered the amended complaint on their behalf. Id.

5. D. Bruce Oliver never filed a notice of withdrawal as the Toscanos' counsel. See, generally, docket for *Western Surety Co. v. Idaho Auto Auction, et al*, Civil No. 050906722 and Trial Court Record.

6. Coulter answered the amended complaint on July 1, 2005, and submitted with his answer the Cross-Claim against the Toscanos. Rec. 112-123.

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