2009

Western Surety Company v. Idaho Auto Auction;  
Brighton Bank, Greater Nevada Auto Auction,  
Utah Auto Auction, T.S. Rideout, Inc. Cottonwood  
Motors, Nathan Coulter, Sandra Coulter, Pedro  
Boix, Silvia Boix, Michael Toscano, Telisa Toscano,  
and Does 1-100 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

First, the Default Certificate was properly entered against the Toscanos in this case because they did not file an answer to the Crossclaim, which was properly filed and served on the Toscanos *via* counsel. This fact is undisputed and is a matter of record. Therefore, regardless as to whether the default papers filed, were properly served after the time to answer had expired; the Default Certificate was properly entered by the trial court on the Crossclaim on February 4, 2008.

Furthermore, since the Toscanos did not appear on the Crossclaim by filing a formal answer with the court; they were not entitled to receive notice of the default on the Crossclaim, pursuant to Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. *Arbogast Family*

---

<sup>3</sup>The Toscanos in their brief have not marshaled the evidence in support of the facts, nor have they argued or attempted to demonstrate, that the findings are clearly erroneous. *Kealamakia, Inc. v. Kealamakia*, 213 P.3d 13, ¶ 10 (Ut.App. 2009).

*Trust v. River Crossings*, 191 P.3d 39, ¶ 16 (Ut.App. 2008).

Moreover, regardless as to whether the Toscanos were entitled to notice of the default papers under Rule 5, after they failed to appear on the Crossclaim; default papers were served on them personally in accordance with Rule 5(b)(1)(A)(iv). They admit they received the default papers by late March of 2008. (Aff. Micheal Toscano, Rec. 611, ¶ 10). Therefore, they admit they received actual notice of the default in time to file a motion to set aside the default for “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect” under Rule 60(b)(1), but failed to do so. Filing a motion under Rule 60(b) is the same step they would have had to take, even if a copy of the default papers would have also been sent to their attorney, Mr. Oliver.<sup>4</sup> See *Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 969 (Ut.App. 1989). (Once a default judgment has been entered it can only be set aside in accordance with Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure).

The Toscanos claim, without any rule of procedure or case law in support, that if their counsel had received the default papers, they would have had time to cure their default prior to the entry of the Default Certificate. However, this is not provided for under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In fact, Rule 55(a) directs that the court *shall*

---

<sup>4</sup>Actually, notice of the default was more effectively given in this case by sending a copy directly to the clients rather than mailing a copy to their counsel, Mr. Oliver. As the Toscanos testified, they never learned of the Crossclaim from Mr. Oliver, and they had not heard from him, nor had been able to contact him. (Rec. 586-597, 592). The court can allow service directly on a party under Rule 5, by mailing a copy to the party’s last known address. Rule 5(b)(1)(A)(iv).



enter default when a party has failed to answer.

The Toscanos claim that the trial court erred in ruling that they were not entitled to notice of default on the Crossclaim, although they failed to appear or file an answer on the Crossclaim, because they had earlier filed an answer to the complaint. However, there are no cases cited to support this position; and Rule 12(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that a separate answer be filed to a crossclaim even if an answer or counterclaim may have been filed to a complaint. “A party served with a pleading stating a cross-claim shall serve an answer thereto within twenty days after the service.” Rule 12(a) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Therefore, the Toscanos were required to make an appearance in court on the Crossclaim, which they failed to do. In the case of *Arbogast Family Trust v. River Crossings*, 191 P.3d 39 (Ut.App. 2008) the Court made it clear that a formal appearance in court is required for a party to make “an appearance,” as required for notice under Rule 5. *Id.* at ¶ 16.

The facts in *Lund v. Brown*, 11 P.3d 277 (Utah 2000) cited by Toscanos are not the same as in this case and *Lund v. Brown* does not support their argument. *Lund v. Brown* dealt with the plaintiff’s failure to file an answer to a counterclaim. The Court in *Lund v. Brown* found that the complaint was a formal appearance for purposes of the counterclaim, which involved the same issues and same parties as the counterclaim. This is different than making an appearance on a crossclaim which is a separate pleading between two different parties. Furthermore, even if notice was required under Rule 5,

sufficient notice was given by direct service on the Toscanos under Rule 5(b)(1)(A)(iv).<sup>5</sup> Furthermore, failure to give notice under Rule 5 alone is not grounds to invalidate a default judgment, *Lincoln Benefit Life Ins. Co. v. D.T. Southern Prop.*, 838 P.2d 672 (Ut.App. 1992); and direct service on a party, several weeks after judgment, but within time to file a motion under Rule 60(b)(1), has been held as sufficient notice. *Id.* at 675.

Moreover, the Toscanos would not have been able to show that the Default Certificate should be set aside for “good cause” under Rule 55(c). The “good cause” standard is not simply a free pass, or do-over because of an attorney’s mistake or oversight. The moving party is still required to show some excusable neglect in order to establish “good cause” under Rule 55(c). *See Miller v. Brocksmith*, 825 P.2d 690, 693 (Ut.App. 1992). To show excusable neglect a party must provide specific details that demonstrate “due diligence in spite of uncontrollable circumstances.” The claim that Toscanos’ prior counsel was negligent does not constitute “due diligence in spite of uncontrollable circumstances,” sufficient to establish “good cause” under Rule 55(c). *Stevens v. LaVerkin City*, 183 P.3d 1059, ¶s 27 & 28 (Ut.App. 2008).

As far as Toscanos’ claim that the trial court failed to follow Rule 55(b)(2), the trial court did schedule and hold a hearing, after giving sufficient notice, under Rule

---

<sup>5</sup>The appellate court may affirm an order appealed from, if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though that ground or theory was not identified by the lower court as the basis for its ruling. *Busche v. Salt Lake County*, 26 P.3d 862, ¶ 7 (Ut.App. 2001).

55(b) to determine the amount of damages to be entered on the default. The Toscanos received notice of this hearing and participated therein. Therefore, the trial court complied with both Rule 5(a)(2)(C) and Rule 55(b)(2) in having a hearing on damages.

Furthermore, under Rule 55(b)(2) once the default of a party has been entered, the court has broad discretion to conduct such further proceedings as necessary to enter a judgment *or carry it into effect*. *Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950 (Ut. App. 1989). This includes considering only the issue of damages at the hearing rather than hearing evidence on the issue of liability. *Id.*

Finally, the Crossclaim does state a claim for breach of contract against the Toscanos. It alleges that Coulter loaned money to the Toscanos as principals of Auto One (“Auto One Principals”) so they could purchase motor vehicles to sell to the public.<sup>6</sup> Coulter was to be repaid the principal amount loaned, plus interest, when the cars were sold. Coulter was never paid as agreed. Auto One actually issued two checks to repay Coulter, totaling \$73,300.00, but they never cleared banking channels. Under the liberal notice standard, Coulter provided a short and plain statement showing that he is entitled to relief and made demand for such relief. This is sufficient to state a legal claim for breach of contract. *America Bank, N.A. v. Goodman* 140 P.3d 589, ¶s 4-6 (Ut.App. 2006)

---

<sup>6</sup>The extent of their participation as Auto One principals goes beyond the facts as alleged in the pleading and the narrow scope of review of an alleged failure to state a claim. *Ashby v. Ashby* 191 P.3d 35 (Ut.App. 2008).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE DEFAULT CERTIFICATE WAS PROPERLY ENTERED ON THE CROSS-CLAIM BECAUSE THERE WAS NO ANSWER FILED TO THE CROSS-CLAIM.**

It is undisputed in this case that after Coulter's Crossclaim was filed and served on the Toscanos; that the Toscanos failed to file an answer or any type of response to the Crossclaim. Therefore, the trial court did not error in entering the Default Certificate against the Toscanos on February 4, 2008. Rule 55(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that if an answer is not filed to a pleading as required under the rules the court *shall* enter the default of that party. There is no requirement that the court wait any period of time to allow the party the opportunity to cure the default by filing an answer, before entering the default.

Therefore, the Default Certificate was properly entered against the Toscanos for failure to answer the Crossclaim on February 4, 2008, regardless of any alleged failure to serve the default papers or lack of opportunity to cure the default.

### **II. THE TOSCANOS IN DEFAULT ON THE CROSSCLAIM WERE NOT ENTITLED TO NOTICE OF DEFAULT ON THE CROSSCLAIM UNDER RULE 5.**

As stated above there is no dispute to the fact that the Toscanos failed to file a response or answer to the Crossclaim, and thus, were in default on the Crossclaim on February 4, 2008. Therefore, the default judgment entered against them is not "void"

under Rule 60(b)(4).<sup>7</sup>

The fact that no pleading was filed, or formal appearance made in court, on the Crossclaim, means that the Toscanos were not entitled to notice under Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In *Arbogast Family Trust v. River Crossings*, 191 P.3d 39, ¶ 16 (Ut.App. 2008), the Utah Court of Appeals in dealing with this issue, did not simply follow the federal line of cases, but citing two Utah Supreme Court cases, stated as follows:

... , Arbogast argues that unless a party enters a formal appearance through a pleading in the trial court it has not appeared and is not entitled to service under rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Because we believe Central Bank & Trust and Lund dictate this result. We agree. *Id.* at ¶ 16.

Therefore, since the Toscanos never filed any formal answer or response in court on the Crossclaim; they never made a “formal appearance” on the Crossclaim entitling them to notice of default on the Crossclaim pursuant to Rule 5. *Id.* at ¶ 16.

The Toscanos claim that although they did not file an answer or a response to the Crossclaim, they were entitled to notice of default on the Crossclaim under Rule 5, because they had filed an answer to the Complaint.

---

<sup>7</sup>Toscanos’ claim that the judgment is “void” for lack of notice under Rule 60(b)(4) on page 27 of their brief, cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *438 Main St. v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 99 P.3d 801, ¶ 51 (Utah 2004). Furthermore, the courts have addressed the issue of notice under Rule 60(b)(1) *Lincoln Benefit Life Ins. Co. v. D.T. Southern Prop.*, 838 P.2d 672 (Ut.App. 1992). While Utah courts have held a judgment “void” under Rule 60(b)(4) for lack of jurisdiction, no court has held a judgment “void” under Rule 60(b)(4) for lack of notice; but in fact have held the opposite, *i.e.*, that the failure to give notice does not invalidate a default judgment. *Lincoln Benefit, supra*, at 675.

The Toscanos do not cite any case law to support this position, *i.e.* that by answering a complaint a party has made a formal appearance on any crossclaim that may be filed against him by another party. Furthermore, the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure require that a separate answer be filed to a crossclaim other than an answer or counterclaim that has been filed to a complaint. Rule 12(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure specifically provides, “[a] party served with a pleading stating a cross-claim shall serve an answer thereto within twenty days after the service.”

The case of *Lund v. Brown*, 11 P.3d 277 (Utah 2000), cited by the Toscanos does not support their position. *Lund v. Brown* dealt with the plaintiff’s failure to file an answer to a counterclaim. The court in *Lund v. Brown* found that by filing the complaint the plaintiff had made a formal appearance on the counterclaim, which involved the same issues and same parties as in the complaint. This is different from making a formal appearance on Cross claim, which is a separate pleading between two different parties.

Furthermore, in *Lund v. Brown*, 11 P.3d 277 (Utah 2000), the court did not set aside the default judgment based solely on a lack of notice under Rule 5, but for “mistake, inadvertence, or surprise” pursuant to the defendants’ Rule 60(b)(1) motion, which the Toscanos never filed in this case.

Regardless, even if notice was required under Rule 5, sufficient notice was given by direct service on the Toscanos as allowed under Rule 5(b)(1)(A)(iv). In Utah, an appellate court may affirm an order appealed from, if it is sustainable on any legal ground

or theory apparent on the record, even though that ground or theory was not identified by the lower court as the basis for its ruling. *Busche v. Salt Lake County*, 26 P.3d 862, ¶ 7 (Ut.App. 2001). Therefore, regardless of the trial court's ruling that the Toscanos were not entitled to notice under Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; this Court can find that serving the clients directly with the default papers at their last known address (which they admit they received) is sufficient notice under Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

### **III. THE DEFAULT PAPERS WERE SERVED ON THE TOSCANOS PERSONALLY, GIVING THEM NOTICE OF THE DEFAULT SUFFICIENT UNDER RULE 5.**

The Tocabos were personally served with the default papers filed in this case by delivery at their last known address. The Toscanos admit that they received actual notice of the default papers by late March of 2008. (Rec. 611, ¶ 10) This was in plenty of time to file a motion to set aside for "mistake, inadvertence or surprise" under Rule 60(b)(1), which the Toscanos failed to do. Filing a motion to set aside the default under Rule 60(b) is the same step that they would have had to take, even if a copy of the default papers had been sent to their counsel. *Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950 (Ut. App. 1989) (once a default judgment has been entered it can only be set aside in accordance with Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure).

Furthermore, service on the Toscanos directly in this case, gave them more effective notice of the default than mailing a copy to their counsel, as the Toscanos had

not heard from their counsel, Mr. Oliver, and had not been able to contact him. (Rec. 592, 586-597) Therefore, the Toscanos were not harmed or prejudiced in any way by receiving notice of the default directly, rather than being informed through counsel, after service of the papers upon him.

In *Lincoln Benefit Life Ins. Co., v. D.T. Southern Properties*, 838 P.2d 672, 675 (Ut.App. 1992) the defendants made the same argument as the Toscanos in this case, *i.e.*, that the plaintiffs failed to mail a copy of the default judgment to their counsel as required by Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of defendants' motion to set aside the default stating "notwithstanding the argument that Lincoln and Allstate failed to give notice, Hogle received notice of the default on July 18, 1990, when he was personally served with the court's order in supplemental proceedings. This notice, which Hogle received approximately seven weeks after the court entered default judgment, provided him adequate opportunity to timely move to set aside the default judgment under Rule 60(b)(1). *Id.* at 675.

Similar to the defendants in *Lincoln Benefit Life Ins. Co., v. D.T. Southern Properties*, the Toscanos in this case received personal notice of the default filed against them by the end of March 2008. This is approximately seven weeks after the default was entered in February of 2008, and in plenty of time for them to file a motion to set aside the default under Rule 60(b)(1) for "mistake, inadvertence, or surprise," which they failed to do. Therefore under the ruling of *Lincoln Benefit Life Ins.*, the Toscanos received



adequate notice of their default.

Furthermore, the Utah Court of Appeals in *Lincoln Benefit Life Ins.*, recognized that failure to give such notice does not itself, invalidate a default judgment, citing Rule 58A(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which states “[a] judgment is complete and shall be deemed entered for all purposes, except the creation of lien on real property, when the same is signed and filed as herein provided.” *Id.* at 675. Therefore, the failure to give notice to counsel under Rule 5 does not itself invalidate the default judgment.<sup>8</sup> *Id.* at 675.

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